Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-9-2009

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiffs/appellants, Doug and Amy Crump ("Crumps"), appeal the decision of the magistrate court finding that the defendant/respondent, Ted Bromley dba Rhino Lining ("Bromley"), was the prevailing party in this action and awarding Bromley attorney's fees and costs despite the fact that Bromley recovered no affirmative relief or judgment against the Crumps on his counterclaim and the Crumps obtained judgment entered against Bromley for \$200 on the Crumps' claim. The Crumps also appeal the district court's affirmance of the magistrate court's decision.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In August 2005, the Crumps delivered their drift boat to Bromley to be sprayed with a protective rubber coating.¹ The Crumps' boat had no cracks when they delivered it to Bromley.² When the Crumps returned a few days later to pick up their boat, they discovered the boat had a crack approximately eight inches long on its side panel.³ The crack went clear through the boat as it could be seen on both the inside and outside of the boat.⁴

Bromley's employee admits that when he flipped the boat over to apply the protective coating, he heard a "pop" and then noticed the boat had a crack in it, a crack he had not noticed before. ⁵ The employee admitted to Bromley that he cracked the Crumps' boat when he was turning

¹ See p. 9, l. 22 through p. 10, l. 6 and p. 17, ll. 5-9 of the transcript of the deposition of Ted Bromley taken January 12, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006.

² See p. 20, l. 10 through p. 21, l. 17 of the transcript of the deposition of Ted Bromley taken January 12, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006. See also the Affidavit of Doug Crump filed 6/26/2006.

³ See p. 19, l. 20 through p. 20, l. 1 of the transcript of the deposition of Ted Bromley taken January 12, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006. See also the Affidavit of Doug Crump filed 6/26/2006 and Exhibit "A" attached thereto.

⁴ See p. 23, ll. 11-15 of the transcript of the deposition of Ted Bromley taken January 12, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006. See also the Affidavit of Doug Crump filed 6/26/2006 and Exhibit "A" attached thereto.

⁵ See p. 26, ll. 3-8 of the transcript of the deposition of Brent Williams taken March 16, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "C" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006.

it over.⁶ After the employee cracked the Crumps' boat, he tried to "patch" it by applying some sealant on the inside and the outside of the Crumps' boat and then painted over the sealant "to blend it in." The employee admits that he did not notice any other cracks on the Crumps' boat. At his deposition, Bromley admitted Rhino Linings cracked the Crumps' boat and has at least some responsibility to pay for the damage to the Crumps' boat. 10

Prior to taking their boat to Rhino Linings, the Crumps had planned a seven-day trout fishing trip in August 2005. 11 They had also planned an eight-day steelhead fishing trip in October 2005. 12 Due to the damage to their boat, the Crumps could not use their boat for these 15 days. 13 Hyde Drift Boats estimated the costs to fix the Crumps' boat at \$945.00. 14

### **COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS**

In November 2005, the Crumps sued Bromley to recover \$2,820 in actual damages and lost use damages arising from Bromley's negligence and breach of contract arising from damage Bromley caused to the Crumps' drift boat. Bromley filed an answer and counterclaim seeking \$400 as the unpaid amount of Bromley's services. ¹⁶

⁶ See p. 21, ll. 14-17 of the transcript of the deposition of Ted Bromley taken January 12, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006.

⁷ See p. 19, l. 20 through p. 20, l. 11 of the transcript of the deposition of Brent Williams taken March 16, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "C" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006.

⁸ See p. 20, Il. 12-16 of the transcript of the deposition of Brent Williams taken March 16, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "C" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006.

⁹ See p. 29, Il. 3-7 of the transcript of the deposition of Ted Bromley taken January 12, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006.

¹⁰ See p. 26, Il. 20-23 of the transcript of the deposition of Ted Bromley taken January 12, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006.

¹¹ See p. 7, l. 15 through p. 9, l. 8 of the transcript of the deposition of Amy Crump taken May 15, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "E" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006. See also p. 29, l. 4 through p. 30, l. 6 of the transcript of the deposition of Doug Crump taken May 15, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "D" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006.

¹² See the Affidavit of Doug Crump filed 6/26/2006.

¹³ See the Affidavit of Doug Crump filed 6/26/2006.

¹⁴ See Exhibit 1 from the deposition of Doug Crump taken May 15, 2006, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "F" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed 6/26/2006.

¹⁵ R Vol. I, p. 7.

¹⁶ R Vol. I, p. 31.

By March 16, 2006, the Crumps had incurred \$721.40 of costs in prosecuting their claims, including filing fees, service fees, deposition transcript fees, and deposition subpoena fees. 17 On March 16, 2006, Bromley made an offer of judgment for \$1,000 pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 68. 18 The Crumps did not accept the offer of judgment.

In June and July 2006, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. 19 The magistrate court denied both motions for summary judgment, but did determine that \$600 was the amount to repair the damage to the Crumps' boat.²⁰ Following the magistrate court's ruling on summary judgment, the parties stipulated to entry of judgment against the Bromley for \$200, but expressly reserved the issue of attorney's fees and costs for the determination of the court.²¹ In April 2007, the magistrate court entered judgment for the Crumps against Bromley for \$200.²²

After entry of judgment, the Crumps filed a motion for attorney's fees and costs on the grounds that they were the prevailing party under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 54(d)(1)(B) in that they obtained a \$200 judgment on their claims and Bromley obtained no affirmative relief on his counterclaim.²³ Bromley filed his own motion for attorney's fees and costs, arguing he was the prevailing party because the Crumps recovered only \$200 of the amount they claimed and he had made an offer of judgment under Rule 68 for \$1,000.24 The Crumps objected to Bromley's motion for attorney's fees and costs on the grounds that Bromley was not the prevailing party.²⁵ The Crumps further argued that Bromley's \$1,000 offer of judgment was not relevant to the determination of the prevailing party and was only relevant to an award of costs,

¹⁷ R Vol. II, pp. 155-156.

¹⁸ R Vol. II, p. 140.

¹⁹ R Vol. I, pp. 46 and 55.

²⁰ R Vol. I, p. 120

²¹ R Vol. II, p. 131.

²² R Vol. II, p. 142.

²³ R Vol. I, p. 121.

²⁴ R Vol. II, p, 136. ²⁵ R Vol. II. p. 150.

not attorney's fees.²⁶ Bromley objected to the Crumps' motion for attorney's fees and costs on the grounds that the Crumps were not the prevailing party.²⁷

On June 7, 2007, the magistrate court entered a memorandum decision and order finding that the Crumps were not the prevailing party based on Rule 54(d)(1)(B) and *Eighteen Mile Ranch v. Nord Excavating & Paving, Inc.*, 141 Idaho 716 (2005). Rather, the magistrate court concluded that Bromley was the prevailing party "pursuant to his timely offer of judgment under [I.R.C.P.] 68." The magistrate court explained that Bromley was the prevailing party "pursuant to Rule 68 where he offered \$1,000 and settled for \$200 which was less than that which was offered."

On June 19, 2007, the Crumps filed a motion for reconsideration, explaining that the magistrate court applied *Eighteen Mile Ranch* in a manner exactly contrary to the law and erroneously relied on Rule 68 to determine the prevailing party.³¹ The Crumps explained that while the court had discretion to determine the prevailing party, "the court's discretion is not unbridled."³² In *Eighteen Mile Ranch*, the Idaho Supreme Court reversed the district court's finding that neither party prevailed and concluded that Nord was "by definition" the prevailing party because Nord successfully avoided all liability on Eighteen Mile Ranch's claims and recovered on its own claims. In this case, the magistrate court should find the Crumps are the prevailing party because they successfully avoided all liability on Bromley's claim and recovered on their own claims. The Crumps explained that the magistrate court's conclusion was exactly backwards to the Supreme Court's decision in *Eighteen Mile Ranch*. The Crumps also argued

²⁶ R Vol. II, pp. 154-156.

²⁷ R Vol. II, p. 138.

²⁸ R Vol. II, p, 161.

²⁹ R Vol. II, p, 161.

³⁰ R Vol. II, p, 161.

³¹ R Vol. II, pp. 163-172.

³² R Vol. II, p. 164 (quoting Jerry J. Joseph C.L.U. Ins. Associates, Inc. v. Vaught, 117 Idaho 555, 557 (Ct.App. 1990).

that the magistrate court misinterpreted and misapplied Rule 68 to the case, relying on Rule 68 in determining the prevailing party and then failing to include the Crumps' costs incurred up to the date of service of the offer of judgment in the court's analysis of the adjusted award.³³

On August 15, 2007, the magistrate court denied the Crumps' motion for reconsideration. The magistrate court did not mention Eighteen Mile Ranch. Instead, the court explained, "Based on the 'overall view', and the results of this case, technically, each party prevailed in part. However, [Bromley] prevailed so substantially that the Court finds and concludes that [Bromley] is the overall prevailing party or the substantially greater prevailing party."³⁴ The magistrate court also did not correct its prior misapplication of Rule 68. Instead, it concluded that the Crumps reading of Rule 68 was "inconsistent with the intent of the rule" and "presents an even stronger basis for an award of attorney fees."35 Nonetheless, and without any explanation, the magistrate court did reduce the attorney's fee award to Bromley from \$2,400 to \$1,200.

On August 27, 2007, the Crumps filed their notice of appeal to the district court.³⁶ Following the parties' briefing and oral argument, the district court entered its appellate decision affirming the decision of the magistrate court. 37 The district court held that to say Bromley "did not recover on his counterclaim is not accurate" because the parties included a credit for Bromley's \$400 counterclaim in reaching the stipulated judgment for \$200 against Bromley. Even though Bromley obtained no affirmative relief or judgment against the Crumps, the district court found that the Crumps "failed on their defense of [Bromley's] counterclaim." The

³³ R Vol. II, pp. 163-169. ³⁴ R Vol. II, pp. 177-178.

³⁵ R Vol. II, p. 178.

³⁶ R Vol. II, p. 182. ³⁷ R Vol. II, p. 226.

³⁸ R Vol. II, p. 229.

district court held the magistrate court's "consideration of Bromley's offer of judgment and the finding that the offer exceeded Crumps' judgment (or adjusted award) was not in error."39

On September 8, 2008, the Crumps filed their notice of appeal to this Court.⁴⁰

### ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- Did the magistrate court abuse its discretion by finding that Bromley is the 1. prevailing party where Bromley recovered no affirmative relief or judgment against the Crumps and the Crumps recovered a \$200 judgment against Bromley?
- 2. Did the district court err by affirming the magistrate court's finding that Bromley is the prevailing party where Bromley recovered no affirmative relief or judgment against the Crumps and the Crumps recovered a \$200 judgment against Bromley?
- Are the Crumps entitled to an award of their attorney's fees and costs on appeal 3. under Idaho Code Section 12-120(1), Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 54, and Idaho Appellate Rules 40 and 41?

#### ARGUMENT

Ţ.

# THE MAGISTRATE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY FINDING BROMLEY WAS THE PREVAILING PARTY IN THIS ACTION.

#### A. Standard Of Review.

"A determination on prevailing parties is committed to the discretion of the trial court and [the appellate court] review[s] the determination on an abuse of discretion standard." Eighteen Mile Ranch, LLC v. Nord Excavating & Paving, Inc., 141 Idaho 716, 718-719 (2005). Thus, the standard of review is abuse of discretion.

³⁹ R Vol. II, p. 231. ⁴⁰ R Vol. II, p. 234.

# B. <u>Under Eighteen Mile Ranch</u>, The Crumps Are "By Definition" The Prevailing Party In This Case.

In finding that the Crumps are not the prevailing party, the magistrate court relied on Eighteen Mile Ranch, LLC v. Nord Excavating & Paving, Inc., 141 Idaho 716 (2005). Although the magistrate court did not specifically identify its reasons for finding that the Crumps were not the prevailing party, the court in fact did reference Eighteen Mile Ranch, calling the analysis in that case "similar" to the magistrate court's analysis in this case. However, Eighteen Mile Ranch mandates the conclusion that the Crumps are in fact the prevailing party. In other words, although the Crumps recognize that the court has broad discretion in identifying the prevailing party, "the court's discretion is not unbridled." Jerry J. Joseph C.L.U. Ins. Associates, Inc. v. Vaught, 117 Idaho 555, 557 (Ct.App. 1990).

In Eighteen Mile Ranch, the plaintiff sued Nord for a debt owed. Nord filed a counterclaim for \$12,000. The jury found against the plaintiff awarding the plaintiff zero on its claim and awarding \$1,054.38 in favor of Nord on Nord's claim. The trial court found that neither party prevailed and refused to award costs or attorney's fees to either party.

On appeal, this Court reversed and held as a matter of law that the trial court had abused its discretion and that Nord was the prevailing party. This Court held that the district court misinterpreted Idaho law for determining a prevailing party because the district court looked at how the parties prevailed on individual claims, whereas the law requires the court to look at who prevailed "from an overall view, not a claim-by-claim analysis." 141 Idaho at 719. Viewing the success from an overall standpoint, this Court held that Nord was the prevailing party because (1) Nord successfully defended the claim against it; and (2) Nord recovered a judgment even though the recovery was less than 10% of the amount sought. This Court said that these facts

⁴¹ R Vol. II, p. 161.

"by definition" made Nord a prevailing party. Accordingly, this Court reversed the district court's ruling and determined that Nord was the prevailing party.

The Court's analysis in *Eighteen Mile Ranch* applies equally here so that this Court should reverse the magistrate court's decision and remand with instructions for the magistrate court to find that the Crumps are the prevailing party. In other words, in *Eighteen Mile Ranch*, Nord was the prevailing party because (1) Nord successfully defended the claim against it; and (2) Nord did recover on its claim even though it recovered less than 10% of the amount it sought. Similarly, (1) the Crumps successfully defended against Bromley's \$400 claim against them; and (2) the Crumps did recover on their claim even though they recovered less than 10% of the amount they sought. Thus, by this Court's definition, the Crumps are the prevailing party. And just as the Court in *Eighteen Mile Ranch* reversed the district court's holding that Nord was not the prevailing party, this Court should reverse the magistrate court's holding that the Crumps are not the prevailing party.

In fact, the magistrate court's decision in this case demonstrates a greater abuse of discretion than the district court's decision in *Eighteen Mile Ranch* that this Court reversed. In *Eighteen Mile Ranch*, the district court held that *neither* party was a prevailing party although ultimately this Court held that Nord was the prevailing party even though Nord recovered less than 10% of the amount it sought. Here, the magistrate court did not rule that neither party was a prevailing party, but instead that *Bromley* was the prevailing party even though Bromley (1) recovered zero on his counterclaim; and (2) had judgment entered against him for \$200 on the Crumps' claim. If the magistrate court had ruled that neither party was a prevailing party, the facts of this case would be the same as in *Eighteen Mile Ranch* and warrant reversal. However,

⁴² Nord recovered about 8% of the amount it sought, and the Crumps recovered about 7% of the amount it sought. The 1% difference between the results is simply not material.

because the magistrate court found Bromley was the prevailing party even though he recovered no judgment on his claim and had judgment entered against him, the magistrate court's decision demonstrates an even greater abuse of discretion than the district court's decision in *Eighteen Mile Ranch* that this Court reversed.

The Eighteen Mile Ranch decision should raise real concerns for this Court as applied to this case. In Eighteen Mile Ranch, Nord recovered less than 10% of the amount it sought, yet the Court still held that Nord was the prevailing party. By contrast, the Crumps recovered less than 10% of the amount they sought, 43 yet the magistrate court held that the Crumps were not the prevailing party citing Eighteen Mile Ranch as authority. Moreover, in Eighteen Mile Ranch, the Court said that the district court focused too much attention on Nord's "less than tremendous success" on its claim and seemingly ignored the fact that Nord avoided all liability on the claims against Nord. In other words, the district court improperly undervalued Nord's successful defense because avoiding liability is a significant benefit to a party. Similarly, the magistrate court seemingly ignored that Bromley did not recover any affirmative relief or judgment on his \$400 counterclaim against the Crumps.

In short, other than the names of the parties and their roles as plaintiff and defendant, Eighteen Mile Ranch is directly in point with the facts of this case. Yet, without any specific explanation for it, the magistrate court reached a result directly opposite the result this Court reached in Eighteen Mile Ranch. This Court should correct the magistrate's abuse of discretion.

⁴³ On summary judgment, the magistrate court ruled that \$600 was the cost to fix the Crumps' boat. Giving Bromley full credit of \$400 on his claim, the parties stipulated to a judgment of \$200 in favor of the Crumps. This means that Bromley recovered zero on his counterclaim and confessed a \$200 judgment on the Crumps' claim. The fact that the Crumps waived their loss of use claim without a trial does not necessarily mean that Bromley is a prevailing party for awarding costs and fees. The Court in Eighteen Mile Ranch stated that "[m]ere dismissal of a claim without trial does not necessarily mean that the party against whom the claim was made is a prevailing party for the purpose of awarding costs and fees." Eighteen Mile Ranch, supra, 141 Idaho at 719. Having waived their loss of use claim, the Crumps actually recovered more than 20% of the amount they sought for the damage done to their boat.

# C. The Magistrate Court Improperly Applied And Interpreted Rule 68 In Determining The Prevailing Party In This Case.

The magistrate court held that "Bromley, pursuant to his timely offer of judgment under Rule 68, prevailed in the dispute." Specifically, the magistrate court held that "Bromley, as the prevailing party pursuant to Rule 68 where he offered \$1,000 and settled for \$200 which was less than that which was offered, is entitled to an award of reasonable attorney fees."

The magistrate court's application of Rule 68 in this case constitutes an abuse of discretion and reversible error in two regards. First, Rule 68 has no application to the determination of the prevailing party. Rather, Rule 68 applies to the award of costs and attorney's fees only *after* determining the prevailing party in the case. If the prevailing party's "adjusted award" (which Rule 68 defines as the amount recovered, plus attorney's fees and costs incurred up to the date of service of the offer of judgment) is *greater* that the offer of judgment, then Rule 68 has no effect. I.R.C.P. 68(b). If the prevailing party's "adjusted award" is *less* than the offer of judgment, then Rule 68 requires adjustment of the payment of costs and attorney's fees according to the rule. I.R.C.P. 68(b). Nothing in Rule 68 relates to the determination of the prevailing party. Rather, Rule 68 may affect the award of attorney's fees and costs *after* determining the prevailing party in the case.

Second, the magistrate court's application of Rule 68 to the facts of this case ignores the mandatory language of Rule 68(a), which provides in pertinent part as follows:

"At any time more than 14 days before the trial begins, a party defending against a claim may serve upon the adverse party an offer to allow judgment to be taken against the defending party for the money or property or to the effect specified in the offer, which offer of judgment shall be deemed to include all claims recoverable, including any attorneys fees awardable under Rule 54(e)(1), and any costs awardable under Rule 54(d)(1), which have accrued up to the date of the offer of judgment."

I.R.C.P. 68(a) (emphasis added.)

⁴⁴ R Vol. II, p. 161.

Importantly, under Rule 68, in comparing the formal offer of judgment against the award, the court *must* add to the award all costs and attorney's fees incurred (up to the date of service of the formal offer of judgment) by the party who received the formal offer of judgment. Under Rule 68, a party cannot run up litigation costs and attorney's fees, make a formal offer of judgment that does not include these costs and attorney's fees, and then declare itself the prevailing party when the other party recovers a judgment less than the amount of the formal offer of judgment. To prevent just this sort of unjust result, Rule 68 requires, i.e., *mandates*, that the court add all costs and attorney's fees (incurred as of the date of the service of the formal offer of judgment) to the award before making the comparison.

Here, the magistrate court made no effort to add to the \$200 judgment any amount for the Crumps' costs and attorney's fees incurred up to the date of the offer of judgment. The magistrate court simply compared the \$1,000 offer to just the \$200 judgment. In this regard, Bromley's formal offer of judgment was mailed and therefore served on March 16, 2006.

Accordingly, Rule 68 required the magistrate court to add the \$200 judgment to all the Crumps' costs as a matter of right incurred as of March 16, 2006, which are itemized as follows:

Date	Cost
November 2, 2005	\$82.00 filing fee;
November 7, 2005	\$35.00 service fee for summons and complaint;
November 7, 2005	\$25.00 service fee for summons and complaint;
January 12, 2006	\$131.18 deposition transcript of Ted Bromley;
February 16, 2006	\$224.72 deposition transcript of Tom Bromley;
February 2, 2006	\$25.00 service fee for deposition subpoena;
March 3, 2006	\$25.00 service fee for deposition subpoena; and
March 16, 2006	\$173.50 deposition transcript of Brent Williams.
Total	\$721.40 ⁴⁵

⁴⁵ R Vol. II, pp. 146-148 and Second Affidavit of Bryan D. Smith filed 5/4/2007.

Under Rule 68, the magistrate court is to add \$721.40 to the \$200 judgment for a total of \$921.40. Moreover, under Rule 68, the court must add all reasonable attorney's fees incurred (as of March 16, 2006) by the Crumps to the \$921.40 amount. Therefore, if the court finds that the Crumps incurred more than \$78.60 in reasonable attorney's fees as of March 16, 2006, then the Crumps "adjusted award" exceeds the \$1,000 offer, and the Crumps prevailed against Bromley's formal offer of judgment under Rule 68. The Crumps submit that they obviously incurred far more than \$78.60 in reasonable attorney's fees as of March 16, 2006 having by that time incurred attorney's fees for preparing a summons and complaint and having taken three depositions.

II.

# THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY AFFIRMING THE MAGISTRATE COURT'S FINDING BROMLEY WAS THE PREVAILING PARTY IN THIS ACTION.

## A. <u>Standard Of Review</u>.

"On review of a decision of the district court, rendered in its appellate capacity, we examine the record of the magistrate court independently of, but with due regard for, the district court's intermediate appellate decision." *State v. Hedges*, 143 Idaho 884, 886 (Ct.App. 2007). Thus, this Court reviews the district court's intermediate appellate decision with "due regard" for its correctness.

- B. The District Court Erred By Finding Bromley's Rule 68 Offer Of Judgment Exceeded The Crumps' "Adjusted Award."
  - 1. Rule 68 Does Not Apply In Determining A Prevailing Party.

The district court erred by applying Rule 68 to determine the prevailing party. In fact, Rule 68 has no relevance to the determination of the prevailing party. Rule 68 does not even mention the term "prevailing party." Rather, the purpose of Rule 68 is to allow an "offeror,"

who is ultimately held liable (and who may not be found the prevailing party), to nonetheless avoid liability for that portion of the prevailing party "offeree's" costs and attorney's fees incurred after the date of service of the successful offer of judgment. In fact, a plaintiff-offeree may be the "prevailing party" in the action, but not the "prevailing party" under Rule 68. In short, the "prevailing party" analysis is irrelevant to Rule 68.

A court's application of the wrong law to an issue constitutes reversible error. In *Action Collection Services, Inc. v. Bigham*, 146 Idaho 286 (Ct.App. 2008), the magistrate court wrongfully applied a "prevailing party" standard to an award of attorney's fees under Idaho Code Section 12-120(5) where none existed. The Court of Appeals reversed the magistrate court and held that no such "prevailing party" standard applies to Section 12-120(5). Here, the district court wrongfully applies a Rule 68 standard to determine the prevailing party. This Court should correct the district court's error and hold that Rule 68 does not apply in determining the prevailing party.

2. <u>The District Court Misapplied Rule 68 To Determine That The Crumps Are Not The Prevailing Party.</u>

Relying exclusively on *Payne v. Wallace*, 136 Idaho 303 (Ct.App. 2001), the district court held that the magistrate court properly refused to consider any attorney's fees the Crumps incurred prior to the service of Bromley's Rule 68 offer of judgment in calculating the Crumps' "adjusted award" under Rule 68. The district court misstated the holding in *Payne* wrongly

⁴⁶ Example: In a case involving Section 12-120(1), a defendant-offeror makes an offer of judgment of \$10,000 to a plaintiff-offeree. At the time of service of the offer of judgment, the plaintiff-offeree has incurred \$1,000 in attorney's fees and costs. The plaintiff-offeree rejects the offer of judgment and ultimately recovers \$8,000. The plaintiff-offeree is the prevailing party and, as such, is entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs. However, the plaintiff-offeree's "adjusted award" is only \$9,000 and does not exceed the offer of judgment of \$10,000. As such, the plaintiff-offeree is the prevailing party in the action. However, because he did not beat the offer of judgment, he can recover only his attorney's fees and costs incurred prior to the service of the offer of judgment and cannot recover any attorney's fees and costs incurred after service of the offer of judgment. The plaintiff-offeree prevails in the action, but does not prevail under Rule 68.

concluding "that costs and attorney fees to be factored into an adjusted award under Rule 68 refer only to costs and attorney fees *actually awarded* as part of the judgment." 47

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