3-12-2009

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

V. ARGUMENT

- A. *The Court appropriately exercised its discretion in finding Bromley to be the prevailing party pursuant to Idaho law.*

Prevailing Party. In determining which party to an action is a prevailing party and entitled to costs, the trial court shall in its sound discretion consider the final judgment or result of the action in relation to the relief sought by the respective parties. The trial court in its sound discretion may determine that a party to an action prevailed in part and did not prevail in part, and upon so finding may apportion the costs between and among the parties in a fair and equitable manner after considering all of the issues and claims involved in the action and the resultant judgment or judgments obtained.

I.R.C.P. 54(d)(1)(B) "The prevailing party question is examined and determined from an overall view, not a claim-by-claim analysis." *Eighteen Mile Ranch, LLC*, 141 Idaho at 719. The determination whether a party is a prevailing party is committed to the discretion of the trial court and we review that determination for an abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 718-19. Abuse of discretion is determined by a three (3) part inquiry:

1. Did the Court correctly perceive the issue as one of discretion?
2. Did the Court act within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available?
3. Did the Court reach its decision through an exercise of reason?

Crown Point Dev., Inc. v. City of Sun Valley, 144 Idaho 72, 76, 156 P.3d 573 (2007).

Crump attempts to argue that they, rather than Bromley, were the prevailing party in the prior litigation. Essentially, Crump's argument is that they received a judgment of \$200.00 and therefore, they not only "prevailed" on their lawsuit, but also successfully defended against Bromley's counterclaim. Clearly this argument fails to consider both the law and the facts at hand.

The Court recognized and applied the prevailing party analysis under I.R.C.P. 54(d)(1)(B) in its original Order regarding attorney fees. (Vol. II, p. 159, *Memorandum Decision on Cross Motions for Attorney Fees and Costs and Order*). In the Court's Decision on Reconsideration, the Court further clarified that it was looking at the case from an "overall view," rather than a claim-by-claim view. (Vol. II, p. 176). This was after recognizing that the determination of a prevailing party was an issue submitted to the Court's discretion. *Id.* at 177.

It is apparent when the three (3) part test for determining abuse of discretion is applied, that the lower courts both properly analyzed and determined the prevailing party issue. First, each court recognized the issue as one of discretion, and then held that due to the large discrepancy in the amount plead for and the amount recovered by Crump, the factors of 54(e)(3), and the fact the Crump recovered less than the offer of judgment, and viewing the case from an "overall prospective", Bromley was the prevailing party under the definition found at I.R.C.P. 54(d)(1)(B).

A determination clearly within the outer realms of each courts' discretion. Finally, each decision walked the parties through the basis for its decision, clearly indicating an exercise of reason. The courts both met all of the requirements in exercising its discretion, showing no abuse of said discretion, and requiring that the lower decisions be upheld.

B. Crump did not successfully defend Bromley's claim, as Bromley fully recovered the \$400.00 in damages for which he plead.

Crump claim they should be the prevailing party as "they successfully avoided all liability..." (Page 6 *Appellant's Brief*). This is an obvious and intentional misstatement of the facts of the case.

After the cross motions for summary judgment, the Court held the cost to repair the boat at issue was \$600.00. A fact which Crump has admitted. (Vol. II, p. 207, footnote 27 *Appellant's Brief, District Court*). After this determination by the Court, which did not address liability, the parties entered a stipulated judgment of \$200.00. Again, by Crump's own admission, this amount constitutes the difference between the \$600.00 amount to repair the boat, and the \$400.00 plead in Bromley's Counterclaim. *Id.* Crump actually states that they were "Giving Bromley full credit of \$400.00 for his claim...." *Id.* It is disingenuous for Crump to argue that they successfully defended Bromley's claim when he was given "full credit" for the amount sought in his Counterclaim. This argument defies common sense, as Bromley recovered the entire amount of damages he requested. This argument is further without merit, as it contravenes the facts of the case. Accordingly, the prior decisions from the lower courts must stand.

C. Pursuant to I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3), the Court clearly has the ability to consider Bromley's Offer of Judgment in its determination of both prevailing party and amount of attorney fees to be awarded.

Crump also argues that the lower courts somehow abused their discretion by discussing

Bromley's Offer of Judgment in reaching their prevailing party determination. Under I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3), in making a determination of the amount of attorney fees the court will award, a court is required to consider several factors. The Court may also consider "Any other factor which the court deems appropriate in the particular case." *Id.* at (l). The court is not required to consider any particular factors in determining the prevailing party, but must look the case as a whole. *See supra Eighteen Mile Ranch* at 719. Further, the Idaho Supreme Court has held that an offer of judgment is one factor which the court may consider in reaching a prevailing party determination. *Polk. v. Larrabee*, 135 Idaho 303, 313, 17 P.3d 247 (2000). So clearly the impact of an offer of judgment, and the subsequent amount of recovery, is a factor which the court is free to consider in making a prevailing party determination. Any argument to the contrary would contradict both the requirement of viewing the case as a whole, prior case law, and the factors which a court can consider in determining an award of attorney fees. Crumps argument is not supported by Idaho law, and clearly cannot support a conclusion that the Court's determination on this matter be overturned.

D. *The lower court properly applied I.R.C.P. 68 by refusing to consider the "adjusted award" argument set forth by Crump.*

On both the prior and present appeal, Crump claims error as the Court refused to consider the judgment amount, plus the attorney fees and costs accrued up to the point Bromley made his offer of judgment. (Page 12 *Appellant's Brief*). However, as the District Court pointed out, this argument ignores prior case law.

The district court held and we agree, that the Rule 68(b) reference to the inclusion of "any attorney fees under Rule 54(e)(1) incurred before service of the offer of judgment" in computing the adjusted award applies only if attorney fees have been granted. The very term "adjusted award" implies that it includes only sums that have actually been awarded....

Payne v. Wallace, 136 Idaho 303, 32 P.3d 695 (Ct. App. 2001).

The holding in *Payne* clearly contradicts the claim set forth by Bromley that the “adjusted award” under I.R.C.P. 68 was improperly calculated. As is clear from this case, an adjusted award only comes into play when attorney fees are awarded. Bromley did not recover on their claim for attorney fees and therefore cannot claim entitlement to an adjusted award. Accordingly, the decision of the lower courts must be upheld.

VI. ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

“Any party seeking attorney fees must assert such a claim as an issue presented on appeal in the first appellate brief filed by such party.” I.A.R. 41(a). A party who was previously deemed to be a prevailing party at the trial court level, is entitled to additional attorney fees if this determination is upheld on appeal. *Eighteen Mile Ranch* at 721. On appeal, the mandatory fee provisions of I.C. § 12-120 govern as well. *Daisy Manufacturing Co., Inc. v. Paintball Sports, Inc.*, 134 Idaho 259, 263, 999 P.2d 914 (Ct. App. 2000). Under I.C. § 12-121, a prevailing party may recover attorney fees at the Courts discretion. This section is limited by I.R.C.P. 54(e)(1) which allows for recovery of attorney fees to a prevailing party, but only under I.C. §12-121 when the court finds that “the case was brought, pursued or defended frivolously, unreasonably or without foundation.” The same reasoning applies to an appeal which was brought frivolously, unreasonably or without foundation. *Sinclair & Co. v. Gurule*, 114 Idaho 362, 757 P.2d 225 (Ct. App. 1988). Further, a party who prevails on appeal is entitled to his costs, pursuant to I.C. §12-107 and I.R.C.P. 54(d)(1).

As the Court is well aware, Bromley was deemed by both the magistrate and district Courts to be the prevailing party in this action. Both judges properly exercised their discretion and

reasoning in reaching a determination that complies with the controlling case law and rules. As such, Bromley is entitled to an award of attorney fees on appeal.

Further, Crump has now appealed for the second time, after bringing a motion to reconsider, a claim for attorney fees on an overall judgment of \$200.00. The additional fees and costs which both parties have accrued due to the multiple appeals by Crump cannot be justified and are unreasonable. The continuous appeals and increasing of fees, is both unreasonable and frivolous, warranting an award of attorney fees under I.C. §12-121 as well.

VII. CONCLUSION

Bromley recovered the full amount of his counterclaim and was only liable for approximately seven percent (7%) of the amount Crump sought in their Complaint. Both the Magistrate and District Court applied their discretion in deeming Crump the prevailing party. Both decisions were based in reason, utilizing the factors and case law available. Any argument that either court acted outside the boundaries of its discretion or failed to exercise reason is without merit. Accordingly, the prior decision must be affirmed.